Supreme Court Case No.: S229428

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 2 0 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COORDINATION PROCEEDING SPECIAL TITLE (RULE 3.550) FIRST STUDENT, INC. CASES

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District Case No. B256075

FIRST STUDENT, INC. AND FIRST TRANSIT, INC.'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RONALD A. PETERS, Bar No. 169895 BENJAMIN A. EMMERT, Bar No. 212157 LITTLER MENDELSON A Professional Corporation 50 W. San Fernando, 15th Floor San Jose, CA 95113.2303 Telephone: 408.998.4150

Attorneys for Defendants and Appellees FIRST STUDENT, INC. and FIRST TRANSIT, INC.

RECEIVED

JAN 152018

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

Is the Investigative Consumer Reporting Agencies Act (Cal. Civ. Code, § 1786 *et seq.*) unconstitutionally vague as applied to background checks conducted on a company's employees, because persons and entities subject to both that Act and the Consumer Credit Reporting Agencies Act ("CCRAA") (Cal. Civ. Code, §1785.1 et seq.) cannot determine which statute applies?

II.

INTRODUCTION

It is well-established that all statutes requiring or prohibiting an act must describe what is required or prohibited in terms that put a party on notice of what the statute requires. This due process requirement is at the core of any statute. A statute violates this core tenant of due process when it "either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application." *Connally v. General Construction Co.* (1926) 269 U.S. 385, 391.

A fortiori of this due process requirement is that a statute that purports to prohibit conduct permitted by another separate and distinct statute violates due process. A statute is unconstitutionally vague when it purports to make illegal conduct expressly permitted by another separate and distinct statute. Respondent Eileen Connor however, attempts to do just that by claiming First Student, Inc. ("First") violated California's Investigative Consumer Reporting Agencies Act (the "ICRAA") when it procured and/or caused to be prepared a consumer report (i.e. a background report) on her in complete compliance with the separate and distinct statute, California's Consumer Reporting Agencies Act (the "CCRAA").

The Second Appellate District below held, contrary to two decisions of the Fourth Appellate District in *Ortiz v. Lyon Management Group, Inc.* (2007)

157 Cal.App.4th 604 and *Trujillo v. First American Registry* (2007) 157 Cal. App. 4th 628, that a party who obtains a consumer report as authorized by the CCRAA and in complete compliance with its requirements can be held potentially liable for the ICRAA's \$10,000 penalty if the background report is determined to be simultaneously subject to both the CCRAA and the ICRAA. The Court did so because it concluded there is nothing preventing First, or any other individual or entity that procures or causes to be prepared a consumer report, from complying with both statutes at the same time.

As demonstrated below, the Second District's analysis is fundamentally flawed. Whether the ICRAA is unconstitutionally vague as applied to the background reports does not hinge on whether it is possible to comply with the ICRAA and the CCRAA at the same time. Rather, the determinative issue is whether the ICRAA provided First notice it had to comply with the ICRAA when requesting a consumer report on Ms. Connor in a manner expressly authorized by the CCRAA. Put simply, is the ICRAA unconstitutionally vague when it purports to make unlawful conduct expressly lawful under the separate and distinct statute, the CCRAA. As the Fourth Appellate District held in *Ortiz* and *Trujillo*, it is.

It is undisputed that First's conduct was permitted under the CCRAA. The CCRAA allows employers to obtain background reports for employment purposes – *i.e.* for use in "evaluating a consumer for employment, promotion, reassignment, or retention as an employee." Indeed, prior to the ICRAA's 1998 amendment, in which the Legislature expanded the ICRAA's scope by changing its definition of what types of consumer reports were subject to its provisions, the CCRAA and not the ICRAA governed background reports obtained for employment related purposes so long as they did not contain information expressly excluded from the CCRAA's provisions – i.e. "information solely on a consumer's character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living which [is] obtained through personal interviews with neighbors, friends, or associates of the consumer reported on, or others with whom he or she

is acquainted or who may have knowledge concerning any of these items of information."

It is also undisputed that First complied with the CCRAA when it obtained the background reports on Ms. Connor that are the subject of this lawsuit. Ms. Connor is a former employee of First. During her employment, First requested HireRight Solutions prepare three background reports on her between 2007 and 2010. It is also undisputed that First used these reports for an employment purpose - *i.e.* to evaluate Ms. Connor for promotion, reassignment, or retention as an employee. It is also undisputed that, before First requested each of these reports, it sent Ms. Connor a notice containing all of the pre-request disclosures the CCRAA requires. None of the information in the background reports fell outside the CCRAA's exclusive jurisdiction – *i.e.* they contained no information obtained through personal interviews.

Although CCRAA expressly permitted First to obtain these background reports and First did so in complete compliance with its terms, Ms. Connor argues the CCRAA is irrelevant to this action. She makes the meritless contention that First was required, but failed, to comply with the ICRAA's more stringent requirements before it could properly request these background reports. Ms. Connor's attempt to hold First liable for the ICRAA's \$10,000 penalty for requesting a background report, as authorized by the CCRAA, is based on the unconstitutional overlap created by California's Legislature's amendment to the ICRAA in 1998. This overlap caused the ICRAA to be unconstitutionally vague as applied to the background reports at issue.

Specifically, in 1975, California's Legislature established the ICRAA to govern "investigative consumer reports" containing "character" information. Also in 1975, the Legislature created CCRAA, a related but independent statute to separately govern "consumer credit reports" containing "creditworthiness" information. Until 1998, this deliberate separation between the ICRAA and CCRAA was achieved by defining an investigative consumer report

as a report compiled from information obtained by "personal interviews," and by excluding such reports from the CCRAA's definition of a consumer credit report.

In 1998, the Legislature expanded the ICRAA's definition of an investigative consumer report to include reports compiled from character information obtained "through any means." As a result, determining whether the ICRAA or CCRAA applies now depends on the type of information in a background report (*i.e.*, whether it is character or creditworthiness information), and no longer depends on the method for collecting information (*i.e.*, whether it was collected by personal interviews or by other means).

However, starting with *Ortiz*, 157 Cal.App.4th at 604, courts have repeatedly rejected this character-creditworthiness distinction as sufficient to differentiate the ICRAA and CCRAA "as applied" to background reports containing information that can be classified both as character and creditworthiness information (*e.g.*, criminal records). In such cases, as the *Ortiz* court explained, this uncertainty is fatal to the ICRAA because the ICRAA imposes stricter duties and provides much more generous remedies than the CCRAA (*e.g.*, the statutory damages available under the ICRAA (\$10,000) are four times greater than the statutory damages available under the CCRAA (\$2,500)). Civ. Code §§ 1785.31, 1786.53.

The logic and reasoning of *Ortiz* and other cases that have considered this issue compel reversal of the Second Appellate District's decision because the subject background reports contain information that can be simultaneously classified both as character and creditworthiness information (*e.g.*, criminal records). Since the ICRAA's 1998 amendment, it is impossible for a party to determine whether a consumer report, such as the subject background reports, is subject to the CCRAA or the ICRAA. The ICRAA therefore fails to provide proper notice of its requirements and is unconstitutionally vague.

Ms. Connor's arguments to the contrary are without merit. They are all based on her contention that the CCRAA and the ICRAA are companion

statutes and do not unconstitutionally overlap. While the statutes are in *pari* materia, the Legislature has always intended each govern and apply to different types of consumer reports. As stated above, prior to 1998, their distinction was readily apparent based on the manner the information in a report was obtained. Since 1998, however, this distinction no longer exists. It is now impossible to determine whether one statute or the other applies to background reports used for employment purposes containing information covered by both.

No legal authority has been identified supporting the proposition that a party can be held legally liable for violating one statute when engaging in conduct specifically authorized by another. Rather, Ms. Connor and the Court below relied on inapposite authority, including authority stating no constitutional issue is presented where a defendant simultaneously violates two statutes that prohibit the same conduct but provide different penalties. However, the CCRAA and the ICRAA do not simply provide different penalties. Rather, each ascribes very different substantive and procedural obligations relating to consent and disclosure, which are at the center of the allegations in this case. Moreover, the undisputed facts establish that First complied with the CCRAA.

For these reasons, First respectfully requests the Court affirm the decisions of the Fourth Appellate District in *Ortiz* and *Trujillo* finding the ICRAA, as a result of the 1998 amendment, is unconstitutionally vague as applied to consumer reports that are simultaneously subject to both the CCRAA and the ICRAA and reverse the Second Appellate District's decision in this case.

III.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A CONTRACTOR OF THE PROPERTY O

A. The Parties.

1. First Student, Inc./First Transit, Inc.

First is a subsidiary of FirstGroup America, which is a subsidiary of FirstGroup PLC. First is a leader in providing safe, reliable, and cost-effective

transportation services to school districts throughout the United States and Canada. (JA, Vol. I, p. 37.) First provides its services through a fleet of over 54,000 buses that serve approximately 6 million student riders each day. Because First provides transportation services for our most precious cargo, our children, it places a profound emphasis on making sure its services are conducted as safely as humanly possible. It does this by, *inter alia*, conducting background checks on all of its drivers and others who have contact with its riders to ensure they are properly qualified to safely perform their job duties.

2. HireRight Solutions, Inc.

HireRight Solutions is a consumer reporting agency. Ms. Connor claims HireRight Solutions is the successor entity to USIS. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 37-38.) While USIS was the entity that performed the background checks at issue, Ms. Connor claims HireRight Solutions is legally liable for USIS' alleged improper conduct. (*Id.*)

3. Respondent Eileen Connor.

Respondent Eileen Connor is a former First employee on who First requested HireRight Solutions prepare the subject background reports. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 162-163.)

B. FirstGroup PLC, Acquires Laidlaw International, Inc.

In October 2007, FirstGroup PLC acquired Laidlaw Transit (another transportation company) through a stock purchase agreement. (JA, Vol. I, p. 37.) As a result, certain employees who had been employed by Laidlaw became employees of First. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 37-38.) To confirm these Laidlaw employees were properly qualified to work in positions in which they would have contact with First's student passengers, First ordered background reports on these individuals from HireRight Solutions. (*Id.*)

C. First Requests HireRight Solutions Perform Background Checks On Certain Former Laidlaw Employees Including Respondent.

Beginning in late October 2007, and in conjunction with its efforts to transition the former Laidlaw employees to First and confirm they were properly qualified to work with children, First sent each Laidlaw employee a package of documents called a "Safety Pack." (JA, Vol. I, p. 166.) As pertinent to this action, the Safety Pack included a written notice/disclosure/authorization ("Notice") allowing First to procure or cause to be prepared a consumer report(s) and/or an "investigative consumer report(s)" on the individual. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 37.) The Notice stated, in pertinent part:

In connection with your employment or application for employment (including contract for services), an investigative consumer report and consumer reports, which may contain public record information, may be requested from USIS [HireRight Solutions]. . . . These reports may include the following types of information: names and dates of previous employers, reason for termination of employment, work experience, accident, academic history, professional credentials, drugs/alcohol use, information relating to your character, general reputation, educational background, or any other information about you which may reflect upon your potential for employment gathered from any individual, organization, entity, agency, or other source which may have knowledge concerning any such items of information. Such reports may contain public record information concerning your driving record, workers' compensation claims, criminal records, etc., from federal, state and other agencies which maintain such records; as well as information from USIS [i.e. HireRight Solutions] concerning previous driving records requests made by others from such state agencies.

(JA, Vol. V, pp. 1072-1073.)

The notice also contained a box that the individual could check to "request to receive a free copy of any consumer report (*i.e.* background report) ordered" on him/her. (*Id.*)

D. The Background Checks At Issue In This Action.

Depending on the specific searches First requested, HireRight Solutions would prepare one or more of the following reports to be included in the background report: (1) a report entitled USIS Widescreen report; (2) a report on the results of searches of criminal records located in the county where the individual lived/worked; (3) a report of a nationwide search of sex offender databases; (4) an address history report based on the individual's Social Security number; and (5) a driver's license history report referred to as a MVR Report. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 175-180.) Besides the foregoing, and while not used as part of the background reports for individuals transitioning from Laidlaw to First, at times, First would also request HireRight Solutions prepare an employment verification report. (Id.)

As pertinent to Ms. Connor's action, it is undisputed that none of her background reports contained any information obtained through personal interviews. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 175-180; Vol. IV, pp. 951-952.) Rather, these reports were all comprised of information obtained from HireRight Solutions' proprietary databases and publically available information. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 175-180.) For example:

- The USIS Widescreen Report. HireRight Solutions prepares this report by reviewing a proprietary database it maintains that compiles information from prior criminal record checks for the subject of the background check to identify counties to be searched. It then searches specific public records on the individual in those counties.
- County Criminal Record Report. The county criminal records search is conducted by reviewing the publically available records in the criminal courthouses in the specific counties searched.
- Sex Offender Report. The sex offender report is prepared by searching available sex offender registries nationwide.

- Address History Report. The address history report is prepared by reviewing electronic databases to identify which counties the individual lived based on his or her Social Security number. Like the Widescreen Report, this report is prepared to identify in which counties the county criminal record searches should be conducted.
- The MVR Report. The MVR driver's license check is conducted by submitting a request to the state for a copy of the subject's driving records.
- Social Security Number Check. The Social Security number check is conducted by comparing the individual's social security number to a table provided by the Social Security Administration that tells, based on a number range, the location where the number was issued and whether the individual with that number has been reported as deceased.
- Employment Verification Report. The employment verification report is, at times, prepared by contacting a database provider and, at other times, prepared by contacting the individual's former employers, which are identified by the employee in his/her employment application. It is prepared to confirm the information the individual provided on his/her employment application.

(JA, Vol. I, pp. 175-180.)

E. Ms. Connor's Employment With Laidlaw/First.

Ms. Connor started working for Laidlaw in about 2000, as a school bus driver's aide. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 185-186, 187-189.) In this position, she assisted the driver supervising the children riding the bus. (*Id.* at pp. 185-186.) In about 2002, she applied to be a school bus driver. (*Id.* at pp. 189-190.) Ms. Connor went through the driver training and certification requirements, including the Department of Justice background check, and earned her school bus driver's

license endorsement. (*Id.*) She thereafter worked for Laidlaw as a school bus driver until Laidlaw was acquired by First. (*Id.* at pp. 162, 185-186, 187-189.)

After First acquired Laidlaw in October 2007, it sent Ms. Connor the Safety Pack, which included the Notice. (*Id.* at p. 166.) After it did, First requested HireRight Solutions prepare a background report on her. The background report First requested comprised the: (1) USIS Widescreen report; (2) criminal records report; (3) sex offender report; (4) address history report; and (5) an employment verification report for the employers Ms. Connor listed in her employment application, i.e. "Laidlaw Transit" and "First Student." This report was prepared by using electronic databases and was based on publically available information and contained no information obtained from personal interviews. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 198-206; JA, Vol. II, pp. 951-952.)

Ms. Connor worked as a school bus driver for First until March 2009. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 189-190.) By March 2009, she had been involved in several traffic accidents and First contemplated terminating her employment. (*Id.*) Rather than fire her, First allowed Ms. Connor to return to work as a school bus driver's aide. (*Id.*) In connection with returning to work in this position, Ms. Connor had to fill out an employment application and execute a new Notice. (*Id.*) She filled out these documents on March 16, 2009 (the employment application) and March 18, 2009 (the Notice). (JA, Vol. I, pp. 208-213.)

On March 18, 2009, and in connection with Ms. Connor returning to work as a driver's aide, First requested HireRight Solutions prepare a new background report on her. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 215-228.) This background report comprised: (1) the USIS Widescreen report; (2) the criminal records report; (3) the sex offender report; (4) the address history report; and (5) an employment verification report for the employers she listed in her employment application, specifically "Laidlaw Transit" and "First Student." (*Id.*) On November 19, 2009, First requested HireRight Solutions prepare a driver's license report, the MVR report on her. (*Id.*) As with her initial background report, this report was prepared

by using electronic databases and was based on publically available information and contained no information from personal interviews or from non-public sources. (JA, Vol. IV, pp. 951-952.)

First requested HireRight Solutions perform a new background check on Ms. Connor on June 1, 2010. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 232-244.) While not required, she signed another Notice in conjunction with this background report. (JA, Vol. I, p. 230.) As with her prior background report, First requested HireRight Solutions prepare a: (1) USIS Widescreen report; (2) criminal records report; (3) sex offender report; (4) address history report; and (5) an employment verification report for the employers she listed in her March 2009, employment application. (JA, Vol. I, pp. 232-244.) Again, as with her prior background reports, this report was prepared by using electronic databases and contained no information obtained from non-public sources. (JA, Vol. VI, pp. 951-952.)

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