Case No.: S229428

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

EILEEN CONNOR,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

FIRST STUDENT, INC., et al.,

Defendants and Respondents

SUPREME COURT  
FILED

FEB 22 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

ORC  
8.25(b)

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Case No. B256075  
Second Appellate District, Division Four

Appeal from the Superior Court of Los Angeles County  
Case No. JCCP 4624  
Honorable John S. Wiley

**ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS  
OF PLAINTIFF AND APPELLANT EILEEN CONNOR**

HUNTER PYLE, SBN 191125  
TANYA TAMBLING, SBN 262979  
RACHEL EVANS, SBN 291876  
SUNDEEN SALINAS & PYLE  
428 13th Street, 8th Floor  
Oakland, CA 94612

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

## **I. The Background Checks Are Subject to ICRAA Under Its Unambiguous Language**

First argues that ICRAA is void for vagueness under the due process clause. The standard for defeating a void for vagueness challenge is not demanding. Rather, a statute must “give the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited, so that he may act accordingly.” *Grayned v. City of Rockford*, 408 U.S. 104, 108 (1972). As always, “[a]ll presumptions and intendments favor the validity of a statute.” *Lockheed Aircraft Corp.*, 28 Cal. 2d at 484. Thus, a statute “cannot be held void for uncertainty if any reasonable and practical construction can be given to its language.” *Id.*

Furthermore, the analysis of whether a statute is void for vagueness must be conducted “in a specific context.” *People ex rel. Gallo v. Acuna*, 14 Cal. 4th 1090, 1116 (1997) (emphasis in original). The question is not whether the statute “is vague in the abstract, but rather, whether it is vague as applied . . . in light of the specific facts of this particular case.” *Cranston v. City of Richmond*, 40 Cal. 3d 755, 765 (1985).

In this case, it is indisputable that ICRAA applied to the background checks at issue. ICRAA’s requirements are also simple and straightforward. First does not contend otherwise. This Court need go no further to reject the argument that ICRAA is void for vagueness.

### **A. ICRAA Applies to the Background Checks at Issue.**

The Court of Appeal began its analysis by observing that First and HireRight were subject to ICRAA under its “plain statutory language.” Slip Op. at 8. The Court of Appeal was correct to begin by focusing on ICRAA, because that is the statute under which Ms. Connor has brought her claim. A fundamental rule of statutory construction is that “the court should ascertain the intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the



law.” *Walker*, 47 Cal. 3d at 121. “In determining such intent, the court turns first to the words of the statute.” *Id.* Legislative history may also be relevant, although “[w]here the language is clear, there can be no room for interpretation.” *Id.* (citations, alterations in quotations omitted).

Here, ICRAA states that it applies to character-related background checks performed for employment purposes. §§ 1786.2(c), (f); 1786.12. It defines an “investigative consumer report” as a “consumer report in which information on a consumer’s character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living is obtained through any means.” § 1786.2(c).

The report run on Ms. Connor included DMV records, criminal records, addresses, aliases, joint credit applicants, Social Security verifications, and similar information. *See* Section I, *supra*. These reports indisputably contain information relating to her “character, general reputation, personal characteristics, and modes of living” within the meaning of ICRAA. *See, e.g., TransUnion Corp. v. FTC*, 245 F.3d 809, 813 (D.C. Cir. 2001), *cert. denied*, 536 U.S. 915 (2002) (noting broad scope of information that bears on “personal characteristics or mode of living” under FCRA’s similar definition of a consumer report); *St. Clair v. Capital One Bank (USA), N.A.*, CIV. 12-1572 MJD/AJB, 2013 WL 1110803 (D. Minn. Mar. 18, 2013) (holding that motor vehicle records bear on “character, general reputation, and mode of living”). Indeed, criminal records are explicitly regulated by ICRAA. § 1786.18(a)(7). There is thus no doubt that ICRAA applies to the reports at issue.

Likewise, it is undisputed that HireRight furnished the reports for employment purposes, *i.e.*, so that First could determine whether to employ Ms. Connor and other school bus drivers and aides. *See* § 1786.2(f).

Indeed, the form that First sent to Ms. Connor regarding her background check was called “Investigative Consumer Report Disclosure and Release.” 5 JA 1041. That form explicitly referred to ICRAA. *Id.* It is therefore clear that First knew that ICRAA applied to Ms. Connor’s background check before it ordered that check.

The Court of Appeal therefore correctly found that there is no dispute that ICRAA applied to the background checks at issue:

There is no question that the background checks included information on the employees’ (or prospective employees’) “character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living,” and thus were investigative consumer reports under section 1786.2, subdivision (c). Nor is there any question that the investigative consumer reports were used for employment purposes, as defined in section 1786.2, subdivision (f). Therefore, under the plain statutory language, HireRight, as an investigative consumer reporting agency, and First, as a person who procured or caused the investigative consumer reports to be made, were required to comply with the applicable provisions of the ICRAA.

Slip Op. at 8.

**B. ICRAA’s Requirements Are Simple and Straightforward.**

ICRAA’s requirements for what employers must do before obtaining background reports regarding employees are easy to understand and follow. Under ICRAA, an employer must:

- (1) Notify the employee of the permissible reason a report is being requested (e.g., for employment purposes);
- (2) Notify the employee that the report may include information on the employee’s “character, general reputation, personal characteristics, and mode of living”;
- (3) Notify the employee of the nature and scope of the investigation requested, including providing a summary of the

- provisions of section 1786.22, as to how the employee can inspect the background check report and have it explained;
- (4) Notify the employee of the website address of the investigative consumer reporting agency (if any, or its telephone number), and inform the employee if information will be sent outside of the United States<sup>18</sup>;
  - (5) Provide all applicable disclosures in a document consisting solely of those disclosures; and
  - (6) Not perform the check unless the employee authorizes the report in writing.

§ 1786.16(a)(1)-(2).

The penalties available under ICRAA are also straightforward. Since 2001, the penalty for violating ICRAA has been \$10,000 or actual damages, whichever is greater.<sup>19</sup> RJN Exh. K.

Accordingly, “[t]he provisions in issue . . . unambiguously specify the activity proscribed and the penalties available upon conviction.” *Batchelder*, 442 U.S. at 123. For these reasons, First has not met its burden of showing that ICRAA is unconstitutionally vague as applied here. *See*

---

<sup>18</sup> This clause became operative on January 1, 2012.  
§ 1786.16(a)(2)(vi).

<sup>19</sup> The fact that ICRAA provides different penalties than CCRAA “is no justification for taking liberties with unequivocal statutory language.” *Batchelder*, 442 U.S. at 121-22. Furthermore, First’s attempt to distinguish *Batchelder* fails. *Cf.* Op. Br. at 40-41. In *Batchelder*, the U.S. Supreme Court set forth the framework for evaluating overlapping statutes, including the void for vagueness and implied repeal doctrines. The Court then upheld statutes that actually conflicted, because one statute imposed a stricter penalty than the maximum sentence allowed by the other statute. The logic of *Batchelder* applies here even more strongly to uphold overlapping statutes where one simply has “different elements” governing the same conduct, and there is no actual conflict. *Batchelder*, 442 U.S. at 125.

*Gallo*, 14 Cal. 4th at 1117; *Cranston*, 40 Cal. 3d at 765; *Lockheed Aircraft Corp.*, 28 Cal. 2d at 484.

## II. ICRAA's Overlap with CCRAA Does Not Render It Unconstitutional

First argues that ICRAA is unconstitutional because in some cases it overlaps with CCRAA and applies higher standards. It is true that both ICRAA and CCRAA apply to background checks that could be described as both “character” reports under ICRAA and “creditworthiness” reports under CCRAA. However, as the Court of Appeal correctly held, this overlap does not make the statutes void for vagueness.

As a background principle, “[w]hen there are two acts upon the same subject, the rule is to give effect to both if possible.” *Borden*, 308 U.S. at 198 (upholding concurrent application of Sherman Anti-Trust Act and Agricultural Act); *see also, e.g., Connecticut Nat. Bank*, 503 U.S. at 253-54 (upholding concurrent application of two jurisdictional statutes); *Chavez v. City of Los Angeles*, 47 Cal. 4th 970, 986 (2010) (upholding concurrent application of two attorneys’ fees statutes). Thus, where overlapping statutes are silent as to how they affect each other, they are presumed to operate in tandem.

Overlap between statutes is not unusual. *Connecticut Nat. Bank*, 503 U.S. at 253-54. In fact, employment law regularly provides for “parallel [ ] overlapping remedies.” *Alexander v. Gardner-Denver*, 415 U.S. 36, 47 (1974). For example, this Court has recognized that “employment discrimination cases, by their very nature, involve several causes of action arising from the same set of facts.” *Brown v. Superior Court*, 37 Cal. 3d 477, 486 (1984). *See also Sanchez v. Swissport*, 213 Cal. App. 4th 1331, 1338-39 (2013) (Pregnancy Disability Law and Fair Employment and Housing Act overlap); *Arias v. Superior Court*, 46 Cal. 4th 969 (2009)

(describing overlapping wage claims brought under Labor Code, PAGA, and UCL, and expressing no concern); *Powell, supra*, 339 U.S. at 519 (upholding dual application of FLSA and federal prevailing wage statute, and holding defendant to the “higher requirement” of each statute).

Here, ICRAA and CCRAA overlap and are not mutually exclusive. First could have complied with both statutes when it ran the background checks. Each act continues to reach certain specific situations. Therefore the constitutional problem raised by First does not exist.

**A. ICRAA and CCRAA Overlap.**

All parties to this case agree that ICRAA and CCRAA overlap, at least after the 1998 amendments to ICRAA.<sup>20</sup> Following those amendments, as shown above (Background Section II.C), a report that meets the following criteria is within the scope of both ICRAA and CCRAA, but not excluded from either statute:

- A report containing information that bears on a consumer’s credit *and* on a consumer’s character, provided that the information is not limited to factual information on a consumer’s credit record. *Compare* § 1785.3(c) *with* § 1786.2(c).

Such a report is subject to CCRAA, but not excluded from that statute. It is also subject to, but not excluded from, ICRAA.

Moreover, nothing in either statute provides that it does not apply to reports that are covered by the other statute. The Legislature knows how to

---

<sup>20</sup> While not important here in light of ICRAA and CCRAA’s clear overlap since the 1998 amendments, as set forth above in Background Section II.A, ICRAA and CCRAA have overlapped since enactment in 1975.

make reports fall under one statute or another when it intends to do so. For example, the Legislature has provided that the term “commercial credit reports” does not include reports that are subject to CCRAA or ICRAA:

“Commercial credit report” means any report provided to a commercial enterprise for a legitimate business purpose, relating to the financial status or payment habits of a commercial enterprise which is the subject of the report. It does not include a report subject to Title 1.6 [CCRAA] (commencing with Section 1785.1), Title 1.6A [ICRAA] (commencing with Section 1786), or a report prepared for commercial insurance underwriting, claims, or auditing purposes.

§ 1785.42.

Section 1785.42 is a perfect example of the language that the Legislature uses to indicate that certain types of reports that are covered by one statute are not subject to other statutes that govern reports. If the Legislature had intended for the category of reports subject to ICRAA to exclude reports subject to CCRAA, or vice versa, it would have said so using language similar to the language in section 1785.42(a).

Here, neither ICRAA nor CCRAA has ever stated that a report must fall under either one statute or the other. Nor has either statute ever stated that a report that falls under one statute may not fall under the other. This lack of explicit exclusivity should end the matter.

There are no grounds for reading in a wholesale mutual exclusion where the Legislature did not write one. “When two statutes are capable of coexistence, it is the duty of the courts, absent a clearly expressed congressional intention to the contrary, to regard each as effective.” *J.E.M. Ag. Supply, Inc. v. Pioneer Hi Bred*, 534 U.S. 124, 143-44 (2001) (upholding application of three patent laws all applicable to plants, each with differing levels of protection for property rights). Here, ICRAA and

CCRAA are easily “capable of coexistence” and there is no clear expression to the contrary. *Id.* Thus, both statutes should be given effect.

**B. The Legislative History Demonstrates Further the Intentional Overlap Between ICRAA and CCRAA.**

While this Court need not go beyond the clear, plain text of the statutes, the legislative history also indicates that the Legislature intended ICRAA and CCRAA to overlap.

The author of the 1998 Amendments stated unambiguously that they were intended to bring employment-related background checks under ICRAA’s higher employee protections.<sup>21</sup> “I strongly believe,” Senator Timothy Leslie wrote, “and SB 1454’s language reflects this belief—that it should not matter *from where* information on a person is obtained, but that if this information is contained on a background check of that person for the express purpose of obtaining employment . . . then it should be subject to greater disclosure and accountability standards.” RJN Exh. H at p. 3. Moreover, he asserted, “I stated my position loudly and clearly throughout SB 1454’s legislative process and obviously, my colleagues in the Legislature overwhelmingly agreed with me since the bill received nary a no vote, nor did it receive any opposition letters from any special interests.” *Id.*

Senator Leslie described an “investigative consumer report” subject to ICRAA as “[s]imilar to a consumer credit report” subject to CCRAA, because both include a “compilation of information on an individual, often used by employers when screening new applicants.” RJN Exh. G, p. 3. The

---

<sup>21</sup> “Statements of authoring legislators that cast light on the history of the measure and the arguments before the Legislature when it considered the matter . . . are indicia of legislative intent.” *Estate of Sanders*, 2 Cal. App. 4th 462, 474 (1992).

proposed amendments to ICRAA were necessary, Senator Leslie explained, “to reflect the current broad use of database information, such as DMV records, civil judgments, bankruptcies, criminal records, etc.” *Id.* The overlap is apparent, because reports compiled from these public record sources—for example, bankruptcies and civil judgments—could obviously also “bear on creditworthiness” and thus be included in consumer credit reports under CCRAA.

Indeed, in a letter to Governor Wilson, Senator Leslie forcefully rejected an argument that the overlap between ICRAA and CCRAA was unintentional. He wrote that there was no “confusion on [his] part—or on the part of the Legislature, which overwhelmingly passed this measure.” RJN Exh. H, at p. 15. To the contrary, Senator Leslie explained that the 1998 Amendments were “intended to strengthen disclosure requirements for investigative consumer reports similar to what already exists today for consumer credit reports.” *Id.* He also pointed out that CCRAA and ICRAA already overlapped in their coverage even prior to the 1998 amendments, as reports under both statutes included reports based on the same public records. *Id.*

**C. The Statutes Do Not Conflict and Must Both Be Given Effect.**

“Redundancies across statutes are not unusual events in drafting, and so long as there is no ‘positive repugnancy’ between two laws, . . . , a court must give effect to both.” *Connecticut Nat. Bank*, 503 U.S. at 253 (quoting *Wood*, 16 Pet. at 363); *see also, e.g., Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc. v. Arcata Nat’l Corp.*, 59 Cal. App. 3d 959, 965 (1976) (finding that statutes “are not in conflict, but rather supplement each other”). Accordingly, where there are two overlapping statutes and “[t]here has been no presentation of instances . . . where compliance with one Act makes it impossible to



comply with the other,” then the court is to “apply[ ] the higher requirement as satisfying both.” *Powell*, 339 U.S. at 519 .

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